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PREFACE.

"his book contains my productions, both as an individual and as
~overnor of Illinois, and it gives the facts determining my course

.+ overnor in several important matters which attracted the attention
§ the country.

The questions discussed in this volume are all of vital interest to
~ =manity, and upon the proper solution of some of them depends the
“:e of the republic. 'While some of these papers and speeches have
“wen published in one way or another it is believed that by putting
“wem in a more enduring form I can assist the patriotic student and
~us render a service to my country. In discussing the tariff, the
—oney question and government by injunction the same illustrations
2= used in different speeches, which would be objectionable if the
~ock were a treatise to be read consecutively, but I have concluded

« === as possible. Consequently the short repetitions have been al-
wwed to stand.  Justice requires me to state that in the original
sreparation of the matter in this book I have been greatly assisted by
“oe unerring judgment and wise criticism of Mrs. Altgeld. Through
“wr mfuence some of the articles were softened in tone and others
were changed in character.

JOHN P. ALTGELD.

Chicago, January 27th, 1899.
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lissipation and carried only indescribable wretchedness to miserable
aves.

Every age has produced millions of strong and industrious men
who knew no higher God than the dollar, who coined their lives in
sordid gold, who gave no thought to blessing the world or lifting up
jumanity ; men who owned ships and palaces and the riches of the
earth, who gilded meanness with splendor and then sunk into oblivion.
Posterity erected no statue to their memory, and there was not a pen
in the universe that would even preserve a letter of their names.

Let the young men of America learn from this statue and from
the career of Gen. Shields that the paths of virtue and of honor, the
paths of glory and immortality are open to them.

REASONS FOR PARDONING FIELDEN, NEEBE, AND
SCHWAB, THE SO-CALLED ANARCHISTS,
JUNE 26, 1893.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On the night of May 4, 1886, a public meeting was held on Hay-
narket Square, in Chicago; there were from 800 to 1,000 people pres-
nt, nearly all being laboring men. There had been trouble, growing
put of the effort to introduce an eight-hour day, resulting in some
wllisions with the police, in one of which several laboring people were
lled, and this meeting was called as a protest against alleged police
brutality.

The meeting was orderly and was attended by the mayor, who
femained until the crowd began to disperse, and then went away. As
non as Capt. John Bonfield, of the Police Department, learned that
e mayor had gone, he took a detachment of police and hurried to the
leeting for the purpose of dispersing the few that remained, and as
e police approached the place of meeting a bomb was thrown by
ame unknown person, which exploded and wounded many and killed
wveral policemen, among the latter being one Mathias Dega A
limber of people were arrested, and after a time August Spie‘s,—‘%)ert
I, Parsons, Louis Lingg, Michael Schwab, Samuel Fielden, George
nple, Adolph Fischer, and Oscar Neebe were indicted for the murder
il Mathias Degan. The prosecution could not discover who had
Hlirown the bomb and could not bring the really guilty man to justice,
il as some of the men indicted were not at the Haymarket meeting
: il had nothing to do with it, the prosecution was forced to proceed
the theory that the men indicted were guilty of murder, because .
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it was claimed they had, at various times in the past, uttered and print-
ed incendiary and seditious language, practically advising the killing of
policemen, of Pinkerton men, and others acting in that capacity, and
that they were, therefore, responsible for the murder of Mathias Degan.
The public was greatly excited and after a prolonged trial all of the
defendants were found guilty; Oscar Neebe was sentenced to fifteen
years’ imprisonment and all of the other defendants were sentenced
to be hanged. The case was carried to the Supreme Court and was
there affirmed in the fall of 1837. Soon thereafter Lingg committed
suicide. The sentence of Fielden and Schwab was commuted to im-
prisonment for life, and Parsons, Fischer, Engle and Spies were
hanged, and the petitioners now ask to have Neebe, Fielden and
Schwab set at liberty.

The several thousand merchants, bankers, judges, lawyers and
other prominent citizens of Chicago, who have by petition, by letter
and in other ways urged executive clemency, mostly base their appeal
on the ground that, assuming the prisoners to be guilty, they have been
punished enough ; but a number of them who have examined the case
more carefully, and are more familiar with the record and with the
facts disclosed by the papers on file, base their appeal on entirely dif-
ferent grounds. They assert:

First—That the jury which tried the case was a packed jury selected
to convict.

Second—That according to the law as laid down by the Supreme
Court, both prior to and again since the trial of this case, the jurors,
according to their own answers, were not competent jurors, and the
trial was, therefore, not a legal trial.

Third—That the defendants were not proven to be guilty of the
crime charged in the indictment.

Fourth—That as to the defendant Neebe, the State’s Attorney had
declared at the close of the evidence that there was no case against
him, and yet he has been kept in prison all these years.

Fifth—That the trial judge was either so prejudiced against the
defendants, or else so determined to win the applause of a certain
class in the community, that he could not and did not grant a fair
trial.

Upon the question of having been punished enough, I will simply
say that if the defendants had a fair trial, and nothing has developed
since to show that they were not guilty of the crime charged in the
indictment, then there ought to be no executive interference, for no
punishment under our laws could then be too severe. Government
must defend itself; life and property must be protected, and law and
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order must be maintained ; murder must be punished, and if the defend-
ants are guilty of murder, either committed by their own hands or by
some one else acting on their advice, then, if they have had a fair trial,
there should be in this case no executive interference. The soil of
America is not adapted to the growth of anarchy. While our institu-
tions are not free from injustice, they are still the best that have yet
been devised, and therefore must be maintained.

WAS THE JURY PACKED?
I.

The record of the trial shows that the jury in this case was not
drawn in the manner that juries usually are drawn; that is, instead
of having a number of names drawn out of a box that contained many
hundred names, as the law contemplates shall be done in order to insure-
a fair jury and give neither side the advantage, the trial judge appoint-
,ed one Henry L.. R:ycgas a special bailiff to go out and summon such
men as he (Ryce) might select to act as jurors. While this practice has
been sustained in cases in which it did not appear that either side had
been prejudiced thereby, it is always a dangerous practice, for it gives
the bailiff absolute power to select a jury that will be favorable to one
' side or the other. Counsel for the State, in their printed brief, say that
Ryce was appointed on motion of defendants. While it appears that
- counse] for the defendants were in favor of having some one appoint-

ed, the record has this entry:

~ “Mr. Grinnell (the State’s Attorney) suggested Mr. Ryce as special
bailiff, and he was accepted and appointed.” But it makes no differ-
ence on whose motion he was appointed if he did not select a fair jury.
It is shown that he boasted while selecting jurors that he was man-
‘aging this case; that these fellows would hang as certain as death;
that he was calling such men as the defendants would have to chal-
lenge peremptorily and waste their challenges on, and that when their
challenges were exhausted they would have to take such men as the
prosecution wanted. It appears from the record of the trial that the
defendants were obliged to exhaust all of their peremptory challenges,
and they had to take a jury, almost every member of which stated
frankly that he was prejudiced against them. On Page 133, of Volume
I, of the record, it appears that when the panel was about two-thirds
“full, counsel for defendants called attention of the court to the fact
that Ryce was summoning only prejudiced men, as shown by their
‘examinations. Further: That he was confining himself to particular
classes, i. e., clerks, merchants, manufacturers, etc. Counsel for de-
fendants then moved the court to stop this and direct Ryce to summon

REASONS FOR PARDONING, ETC.
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the jurors from the body of the people; that is, from the community at
large, and not from particular classes; but the court refused to take
any notice of the matter.

For the purpose of still further showing the misconduct of Bailiff
Ryce, reference is made to the affidavit of Otis S. Favor. Mr. Favor is
one of the most reputable and honorable business men in Chicago ; he
was himself summoned by Ryce as a juror, but was so prejudiced
against the defendants that he had to be excused, and he abstained
from making any affidavit before sentence because the State’s Attorney
had requested him not to make it, although he stood ready to go into
court and tell what he knew if the court wished him to do so, and he
naturally supposed he would be sent for. But after the Supreme Court
had passed on the case, and some of the defendants were about to be
hanged, he felt that an injustice was being done, and he made the fol-
lowing affidavit :

STATE OF ILLINOIS,
Cook County. % 55,

Otis S. Favor, being duly sworn, on oath says that he is a citizen of the
United States and of the State of Illinois, residing in Chicago, and a merchant
doing business at Nos. 6 and 8 Wabash Avenue, in the city of Chicago, in said
county. That he is very well acquainted with Henry L. Ryce, of Cook county,
Tllinois, who acted as special bailiff in summoning jurors in the case of The
People, etc. vs. Spies et al., indictment for murder, tried in the Criminal Court
of Cook county, in the summer of 1886. That affiant was himself summoned by
said Ryce for a juror in said cause, but was challenged and excused therein be-
cause of his prejudice. That on several occasions in conversation between
affiant and said Ryce touching the summoning of the jurors by said Ryce, and
while said Ryce was so acting as special bailiff as aforesaid, said Ryce said to this
affiant and to other persons in affiant’s presence, in substance and effect as
follows, to-wit: “I {meaning said Ryce) am managing this case (meaning this
case against Spies et al.), and know what I am about. Those fellows (meaning
the defendants, Spies et al.) are going to be hanged as certain as death. I am
calling such men as the defendants will have to challenge peremptorily and waste
their time and challenges. Then they will have to take such men as the prose-
cution wants.” That affiant has been very reluctant to make any affidavit in this
case, having no sympathy with anarchy nor relationship to or personal interest
in the defendants or any of them, and not being a soecialist, communist or
anarchist; but affiant has an interest as a citizen, in the due administration of
the law, and that no injustice should be done under judicial procedure, and
believes that jurors should not be selected with reference to their known views
or prejudices. Affiant further says that his personal relations with said Ryce
were at said time, and for many years theretofore had been most friendly and
even intimate, and that affiant is not prompted by any ill will toward any one in
making this affidavit, but solely by a sense of duty and a conviction of what is
due to justice.

Affiant further says, that about the beginning of October, 1886, when the
motion for a new trial was being argued in said cases before Judge Gary, and
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when, as he was informed, application was made before Judge Gary for leave to

. examine affiant in open court, touching the matters above stated, this affiant

went, upon request of State’s Attorney Grinnell, to his office during the noon
recess of the court, and there held an interview with said Grinnell, Mr. Ingham
and said Ryce, in the presence of several other persons, including some police
officers, where affiant repeated substantially the matters above stated, and the
said Ryce did not deny affiant’s statements, and affiant said he would have to
testify thereto if summoned as a witness, but had refused to make an affidavit
thereto, and affiant was then and there asked and urged to persist in his refusal

and to make no affidavit. And afhant further saith not.
OTIS S. FAVOR.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 7th day of November, A. D. 1887.
JULIUS STERN,
Notary Public in and for said County.

So far as shown no one connected with the State’s Attorney’s office
has ever denied the statements of Mr. Favor, as to what took place in
that office, although his affidavit was made in November, 1887.

As to Bailiff Ryce, it appears that he has made an affidavit in which
he denies that he made the statements sworn to by Mr. Favor, but un-
fortunately for him, the record of the trial is against him, for it shows

- conclusively that he summoned only the class of men mentioned in

Mr. Favor’s affidavit. According to the record, 981 men were ex-

- amined as to their qualifications as jurors, and most of them were

either employers, or men who had been pointed out to the bailiff by
their employer. The following, taken from the original record of the
trial, are fair specimens of the answers of nearly all the jurors, except
that in the following cases the court succeeded in getting the jurors
to say that they believed they could try the case fairly notwithstanding
their prejudices. :

EXAMINATION OF JURORS.

William Neil, a manufacturer, was examined at length ; stated that
he had heard and read about the Haymarket trouble, and believed
enough of what he had so heard and read to form an opinion as to the
guilt of the defendants, which he still entertained; that he had ex-
pressed said opinion, and then he added: “It would take pretty strong
evidence to remove the impression that I now have. I could not dis-
miss it from my mind ; could not lay it altogether aside during the trial.
I believe my present opinion, based upon what I have heard and read,
wottld accompany me through the trial, and would influence me in
determining and getting at a verdict.”

He was challenged by the defendants on the ground of being pre-
judiced, but the court then got him to say that he believed he could
give a fair verdict on whatever evidence he should hear, and there-
upon the challenge was overruled.

24
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= H. 1; C‘}‘landler, il? the stationery business with Skeen, Stuart &
-+ sald: “I was pointed out to the deputy sheriff by my employer

ttzlklzed s;brgsltoged IilIs a jur;()r.’_’ He then stated that he had read and
1€ Haymarket trouble, and had for d
expressed an opinion as to the ouj ik il
' guilt of the defendants 2
bellévedlthelstatements he had read and heard. He was a,sl?:dd' 5
- 18 that a decided opinion as to the gui ;
. ‘ uilt
g. It is a decided opinion; yes, sir P Ty R RO
. Your mind i gk i
. 1S pretty well made up now as to their guilt or inno-
A. Yes, sir.
2. IVtVoglfilit be hard to change your opinion ?
: might be hard ; T 't ken i
R cannot say. I don’t know whether it would
He was challenged b
P y the defendants on the ground of bej
; ; € o 0
Judiced. Then the court took him in hand and examined him lalntbsé)rflcc

formedl;l nXV;I}s{;n. gm a4 manufacturer. Am prejudiced and have
. ressed an opinion; that opinj i
TR o P opinion would influence me
; Ig—gle w:s challenged for cause, but was then examined by the court
- T€ you comscious in your own mind of any wisah or desiré

some of these men, or an i
1 y of them, to be guilty?
A. Well, I think T have. gt
b E:(llnggil?rtl:ea prclssfed by the court, he said that the only feeling
% asast the defendants was based upon havi i
granted that what he read about th i i oo g
: ha em was, in the main, true:
believed that sitting as a j Al
. Juror the effect of the evide i
against the defendants would be inc e S
: a reased or diminished by what
L.adﬂllleard or read about t.hc case. Then on being still furth};r r:ss::'ef
y the court, .he finally said: “Well, I feel that I hope that thé) u'lt(
one w1llAbe dlscovered- or punished—not necessarily these men% =
Q. Are you conscious of any other wish or desire about th .
ter than that the actual truth may be discovered ? e
A. I don’t think I am. '
Thereupon the challenge was overruled,
¥ S(;;egrge N.. Porter, grocer, testified that he had formed and ex-
ip:m lfe :hnozgilr:on asktlobt.he guilt of the defendants, and that this opi;l
. , wWou 1as his judgment; he would try t B #lhe
; ry to go by the
evidence, but that what he had rgad would have a great deal ti do}willltl
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1is verdict ; his mind, he said, was certainly biased now, and that it
would take a great deal of evidence to change it. He was challenged
or cause by the defendants ; was examined by the court and.said :

I think what I have heard and read before I came into court would
have some influence with me. But the court finally got him to say
he believed he could fairly and impartially try the cdse and render a
verdict according to law and evidence, and that he would try to do so.
‘Thereupon the court overruled the challenge for cause. Then he
was asked some more questions by defendants’ counsel, and among
other things said:

Why, we have talked about it there a great many times and I have
always expressed my opinion. I believe what I have read in the papers;
believe that the parties are guilty. I would try to go by the evidence,
but in this case it would be awful hard work for me to do it.

He was challenged a second time on the ground of being preju-
diced; was then again taken in hand by the court and examined at
length, and finally again said he believed he could try the case fairly
on the evidence; when the challenge for cause was overruled for the
second time.

H. N. Smith, hardware merchant, stated among other things that
he was prejudiced and had quite a decided opinion as to the guilt or

innocence of the defendants ; that he had expressed his opinion and still
entertained it, and candidly stated that he was afraid he would listen
a little more attentively to the testimony which concurred with his
opinion than the testimony on the other side; that some of the police-
men injured were personal friends of his. He was asked these ques-
tions :
Q. That is, you would be willing to have your opinion strength-
ened, and hate very much to have it dissolved?

A. I would.

Q. Under these circumstances do you think that you could render
a fair and impartial verdict?

A. T don’t think I could.

Q. You think you would be prejudiced?

A. T think I would be, because my feelings are very bitter.

Q. Would your prejudice in any way influence you in coming at
an opinion, in arriving at a verdict?

A. T think it would.

He was challenged on the ground of being prejudiced ; was interro-
gated at length by the court, and was brought to say he believed he
could try the case fairly on the evidence produced in court, Then the

challenge was overruled,
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Leonard Gould, wholesale grocer, was examined at length ; said he
had a decided prejudice against the defendants. Among other things,
he said: “I really don’t know that I could do the case justice; if I was to
sit on the case I should just give my undivided attention to the evi-
dence and calculate to be governed by that.” He was challenged for
cause and the challenge overruled. He was then asked the question
over again, whether he could render an impartial verdict based upon
the evidence alone, that would be produced in court, and he answered:
“Well, I answered that, as far as I could answer it.”

Q. You say you don’t know that you can answer that, either
yes or no?

A. No, I don’t know that I can.

Thereupon the court proceeded to examine him, endeavoring to
get him to state that he believed he could try the case fairly upon
the evidence that was produced in court, part of the examination being
as follows:

Q. Now, do you believe that you can—that you have sufficiently
reflected upon it—so as to examine your own mind, that you can fairly
and impartially determine the guilt or innocence of the defendants?
A. That is a difficult question for me to answer.

Q. Well, make up your mind as to whether you can render, fairly
and impartially render, a verdict in accordance with the law and the
evidence. Most men in business possibly have not gone through
a metaphysical examination so as to be prepared to answer a question
of this kind.

A. Judge, I don’t believe I can answer that question.

Q. Can you answer whether you believe you know?

A. TfI had to do that I should do the best I could.

Q. The question is whether you believe you could or not. I
suppose, Mr. Gould, that you know the law is that no man is to be
convicted of any offense with which he is charged, unless the evidence
proves that he is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt?

A. That is true.

Q. The evidence heard in this case in court?
A Yes.
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or can not? Not whether you are going to do it, but do you believe

i i You are not required to state
t? That is the only thing.
| g happen next week or week after, but what do you

believe about yourseli, whether you can or can £
A. I am about where I was when 1 started. 5
Some more questions were asked and Mr. Gogld ar;sv:er:ha:t o
Well, I believe I have gone just as far as I can mn reply to q
b This question, naked and simple in itself is_, do you b'ehev‘e
= i ly an,d impartially render a verdict in the case 1n ac-

: : ?
" cordance with the law and evidence:

1 believe I could. ' L .
%avingeﬁnally badgered the juror into gn;{mg this last answer,
i ; 1 asked:
) desisted. The defendants’ counse "
E Szu;gueliflieve you can do so, uninfluenced by any prejudice or

1 : i
. opinion which you now have?

A. You bring it at a point that T object to and I do not feel com-

tent to answer. . d
4 Thereupon the juror was challenged a second time for cause, an

as overruled.
k: f:;liznge :iVValker dry goods merchant, stated that he l;acl i;)rmeac:
: ini he guilt of defendants; that he w
d ressed an opinion as to the & : -
alrle'tfcjltiged and stated that his prejudice woul.d _handlcap ;um. i
’ JQ Cc;nsidering all prejudice and all opinions you have,

i th
testimony was equally balanced, would you decide one way or the

i ini rejudice?
- accordance with that opinion or your p ]
Othi mIf the testimony was equally balanced I should hold my pres
; ' Sir' 3 . - .
ent Spln:sns,uming that your present opinion ts, that. you behizlre tahi
(leféﬁ;iants guilty, would you believe your present opinion would W
rant you in convicting thercrll?
. I presume it would. . e L
g V\})éll you believe it would ; that is your present belief, is it?
A. Yes, sir. ;
He was challenged on

the ground of prejudice.
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Thereupon the court, in the presence of the jurors not yet exam-

ined, remarked :

Well, that is a sufficient qualification for a juror in the case; of
course, the more a man feels that he is handicapped the more he will
be guarded against it.

W. B. Allen, wholesale rubber business, stated among other things:

Q. I will ask you whether what you have formed from what you

have read and heard is a slight impression, or an opinion, or a con-
viction.

A. Itisa decided conviction.

Q. You have made up your mind as to whether these men are
guilty or innocent?

A. Yes,sir.

Q. It would be difficult to change that conviction, or impossible,
perhaps?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. It would be impossible to change your conviction?

A. It would be hard to change my conviction.

He was challenged for cause by defendants. Then he was exam-
ined by the court at length and finally brought to the point of say-
ing that he could try the case fairly and impartially, and would do so.
Then the challenge for cause was overruled.

H. L. Anderson was examined at length, and stated that he had
formed and expressed an opinion, still held it, was prejudiced, but
that he could lay aside his prejudices and grant a fair trial upon the
evidence. On being further examined, he said that some of the police-
men ininred were friends of his and he had talked with tham ful
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that he could give a fair and impartial verdict, when the challenge was

led. -
OVCEES‘; Harrison, in the silk department of Edson Keith & Co.,

. was examined at length; stated that he had a deep-rooted conviction

i i defendants. He said:
to the guilt or innocence of the ( : : .
1 St woild have considerable weight with me if selected as a juror.
It is pretty deep-rooted, that opinion is, and it woulc_i take a large gre-
ponderance of evidence to remove it; it would require the preponder-

e ; "
" ance of evidence to remove the opinion I now possess. I feel like every

other good citizen does. I feel that these men are guilty; we dox;lt
know which ; we have formed this opinion by general reports from‘ t 1e
newspapers. Now, with that feeling, it would take some very posltu{g
evidence to make me think these men were not gulljcy, itIs oulr1
acquit them; that is what I mean. I should act entirely upon the
tcsiimony' I would do as near as the main evxcience would permit me
: i one.”
_ Probably I would take the testimony alon o £
5 dg; But youy say that it would take positive evidence of their inno
: i
cence before you could consent to return th.e(:im not guilty?
ence.

A. Yes, I should want some strong evidenc 2

Q VVel’l if that strong evidence of their mnoience was not in
troduced, then you want to convict them, of course!

A. Certainly. _ 1

He was then challenged on the ground of bemlgl' pre]?c}if:ed,tcv)v};?;

j i te him and finally got him
the judge proceeded to imterroga : : ;
thatjhegbelli)eved he could try the case fairly on the evidence alone;

y allenge was overruled. o
s the (-:h« g’%_ - vaetifiad that he was prejudiced ; had formed
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list.en to t_he‘ evidence and from that alone make up his mind as to the

guilt or innocence of the defendants. Thereupon the court, in the

preic;;/ce of other jurors not yet examined, lectured him as ,fOHOWS'

¥ hly not? W'hf:t 1&, to prevent your listening to the evidence and
ing alone upon it? hy can’t you listen to the evi

T el 3 evidence and make
But the juror still insisted th i

at he could i

e not do it, and was dis-

: H. D. Bogardus, flour merchant, stated that he had read and talked

about thg Haymarket trouble; had formed and expressed an opinion

Stl”. he.Id it, as to tl_le guilt or innocence of the defendants ; that he was’

prejudlced;' that th‘fs prejudice would certainly influence his verdict if

selectefl a juror. I don't believe ‘that T could give them a fair trial
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‘talked about the matter, and believed what he had heard and read,

and had formed and expressed an opinion, and still held it, as to the
guilt or innocence of the defendants; that he was prejudiced against

~ them ; that that prejudice was deep-rooted, and that it would require

evidence to remove that prejudice.

A great many said they had been pointed out to the bailiff by their
employers, to be summoned as jurors. Many stated frankly that they
believed the defendants to be guilty, and would convict unless their
opinions were overcome by strong proofs; and almost every one, after
having made these statements, was examined by the court in a man-
ner to force him to say that he would try the case fairly upon the

evidence produced in court, and whenever he was brought to this
nnint ha wace held ta he a comnatent inror ceshekhes——
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frequently. My mind w
] . as made up from i
hemtate to speak about it.” f et e
e Q Would you feel yourself in any way governed or bound in
f t:nng to the testimony and determining it upon the pre-judgment
ot the case that you had expressed to others before?
?I. Well, that is a pretty hard question to answer.
k4 e hthen stated to the court that he had not expressed an opinion
bsro the truth of the reports he had read, and finally stated that he
elieved he coulfi try the case fairly on the evidence. '
% John B. Grelper, another one of the twelve: “Am a clerk for the
Dorthwestern railroad. I have heard and read about the killing of
: etganilat thf: Hayx'narket, on May 4, last, and have formed an opinion
C:,i ;: t ;t gullt 'gr Innocence of the defendants now on trial for that
@ Is evident that the defendants are i i
L e connected with that affajr
2. You regard that as evidence?
- Well, I don’t know exactl
2 n y. Of course I would e
1t connected them or they would not be here. S
) lQ so, then, the opinion that you now have has reference to the
guilt or mnocence of some of these men, or all of them?
A. Certainly. .
‘ Q. Now, is that opinion one that would influence your verdict
if you should be selected as a juror to try the case? -
A. T certainly think it would affect i '
: t it to some extent; :
how it could be otherwise. R e
He further stated that there had been a strike in the freight de-
partmer.lt of the Northwestern road, which affected the department
}I:e wasl;n. Aflter some further examination, he stated that he thought
€ could try the case fairly on the evidence, and
by : was then held to be
. G. W. Adams, also one of the twelve : “Am a traveling salesman :
ave been an employer of painters. I read and talked about the Hay-
rr;a:}llcet tr_ouble and formed an opinion as to the nature and character
Of the crime committed there. I conversed freely wi i
about the matter.” dapal b
Q. Did you form an opinion at the time that the defendants were
connected with or responsible for the commission of that crime?
e | thought some of them were interested in it; yes.
Q. And you still think so?
A. Yes.
Q.

NOthlng has transpired in the interval tn ahamen comeen ot 1
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A. No, sir.
Q. You say some of them; that is, in the newspaper accounts

- that you read, the names of some of the defendants were referred to?
.

A. Yes, sir.
After further examination he testified that he thought he could try

the case fairly on the evidence.
- H. T. Sanford, another one of the twelve: Clerk for the North-

western railroad, in the freight auditor’s office.

Q. Have you an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the de-
fendants of the murder of Mathias J. Degan?

A. T have.

Q. From all that you have heard and that you have read, have
you an opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the defendants of throw-
ing the bomb?

A. Yes,sir; I have.

Q. Have you a prejudice against socialists and communists?

A. Yes, sir; a decided prejudice.

Q. Do you believe that that prejudice would influence your ver-
dict in this case?

A. Well, as I know so little about it, it is a pretty hard question
to answer. I have an opinion in my own mind that the defendants
encouraged the throwing of that bomb.

Challenged for cause on the ground of prejudice.

On further examination, stated he believed he could try the case
fairly upon the evidence, and the challenge for cause was overruled.

Upon the whole, therefore, considering the facts brought to light
since the trial, as well as the record of the trial and the answers of the
jurors as given therein, it is clearly shown that, while the counsel for
defendants agreed to it, Ryce was appointed special bailiff at the sug-
gestion of the State’s Attorney, and that he did summon a prejudiced
jury which he believed would hang the defendants; and further, that
the fact that Ryce was summoning only that kind of men was brought
to the attention of the court before the panel was full, and it was asked

to stop it, but refused to pay any attention to the matter, but per-
mitted Ryce to go on, and then forced the defendants to go to trial
before this jury.

While no collusion is proven between the judge and State’s Attor-
ney, it is clearly shown that after the verdict and while a motion for a
new trial was pending, a charge was filed in court that Ryce had
packed the jury, and that the attorney for the State got Mr. Favor
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unless the affidavit was obtained, although it was informed that Mr.

Favor would not make an affidavit, but stood ready to come into

court and make a full statement if the court desired him to do so.
These facts alone would call for executive interference, especially

as Mr. Favor’s affidavit was not before the Supreme Court at the time
it considered the case.

RECENT DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT AS TO COM-
PETENCY OF JURORS.

II.

The second point argued seems to me to be equally conclusive.
In the case of the People vs. Coughlin, known as the Cronin case,
recently decided, the Supreme Court, in a remarkably able and com-
prehensive review of the law on this subject, says, among other
things:

“The holding of this and other courts is substantially uniform,
that where it is once clearly shown that there exists in the mind of the
juror, at the time he is called to the jury box, a fixed and positive
opinion as to the merits of the case, or as to the guilt or innocence
of the defendant he is called to try, his statement that, notwithstanding
such opinion, he can render a fair and impartial verdict according to
the law and evidence, has little, if any, tendency to establish his im-
partiality. This is so because the juror who has sworn to have in his
mind a fixed and positive opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the
accused, is not impartial, as a matter of fact: & %

“It is difficult to see how, after a juror has avowed a fixed and
settled opinion as to the prisoner’s guilt, a court can be legally satisfied
of the truth of his answer that he can render a fair and impartial ver-
dict, or find therefrom that he has the qualification of impartiality, as
required by the Constitution. * *
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‘determine the rights of others, and it will be no difficult task to predict,
“even before the evidence was heard, the verdict that would be rendered.
Nor can it be said that instructions from the court would correct the
bias of the jurors who swear they incline in favor of one of the
iticants. * * *
mlg‘?Bontecou (one of the jurors in the Cronin c.ase), if is tl‘t'le, was
‘brought to make answer that he could render a fair and impartial ver-
dict in accordance with the law and the evidence, but that 1:esu1t was
reached only after a singularly argumentative and persuasive cross-
“examination by the court, in which the right of every person accused qf
‘crime to an impartial trial and to the presumption of innocence v:mtll
‘proved guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, and the' d.uty of every citizen,
‘when summoned as a juror, to Jay aside all opinions and prejudices
‘and accord the accused such a trial, was set forth and descanted upon at
length, and in which the intimation was very clearly made that a juror
‘who could not do this was recreant to his duty. as a man and a citizen.
Under pressure of this sort of cross-examination, Bontecou seems to
‘have been finally brought to make answer in such a way as to proliess
an ability to sit as an impartial juror, and on his so answering
‘he was pronounced competent and the cha.llen.ge as to him was
overruled. Whatever may be the weight ordmarl.ly .due to statements
“of this character by jurors, their value as evidence is in no vs.mall degrf.:e
‘impaired in this case by the mode in which they were, in a certain
“gense, forced from the mouth of the juror. The theory seemed to be,
that if a juror could in any way be brought to answer tha_t he could
‘sit as an impartial juror, that declaration of itself rendered 'lnm compe-
tent. Such a view, if it was entertained, was a total misconception
$° of the law. * * * '

1 tiire ta lennw
“It requires no profoupd knguledeeel,h1man na
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bfefore he is permitted to take the oath. If he is not impartial then
his OE'ith cannot be relied upon to make him so. In the terse and ex-’
pressive language of Lord Coke, already quoted, the jury should
‘stand indifferent as he stands unsworn,” ”’ : [
Applying the law as here laid down in the Cronin case to the an-
swers of the jurors above given in the present case, it is very apparent
Fhat most of the jurors were incompetent because they weri): not
xmpartxal,.for nearly all of them candidly stated that they were preju-
diced against the defendants, and believed them guilty before hé)arijn
the ev1den§e, and the mere fact that the judge succeeded, by a singulaf
Ig] Suggestive examination, in getting them to state tha’t they believed
Cocregrpecg:llg try the case fairly on the evidence, did not make them
It is true that this case was before the Supreme Court, and that
f:ourt allowed 'the verdict to stand; and it is also tru - :

bt S Y|
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of the men who was killed, and that for that reason he felt more
‘strongly against the defendants than he otherwise might, yet he was
~ held to be competent on his mere statement that he believed he could
try the case fairly on the evidence.

No matter what the defendants were charged with, they were en-
titled to a fair trial, and no greater danger could possibly threaten
- our institutions than to have the courts of justice run wild or give
way to popular clamor; and when the trial judge in this case, ruled
that a relative of one of the men who was killed was a competent juror,
and this after the man had candidly stated that he was deeply preju-
diced, and that his relationship caused him to feel more strongly than
he otherwise might; and when, in scores of instances, he ruled that
men who candidly declared that they believed the defendants to be
guilty, that this was a deep conviction and would influence their ver-

REASONS FOR PARDONING, ETC.
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bitches,” an : ‘
of then’1 actjall;;ggl:' beatt;,n-g the people with their clubs, and some
ing their revolvers. O
through ; ne young man
¢ theb'lfftEI;G back1 of the head and killed. But to Comilete th;V:tSr Sh.o[
hasten;d tcl; ?:alt letll)al.‘t of the officers engaged in it, when the p:cfll)tl{
; ke their escape from th : :
policemen i : i e assembly room, the
e t;zatsl?ned on either s.xde of the stairway leading from };hfeo‘lllii:
AR Withreit, }Vlvho.apphed their clubs to them as they passed
“Mr. Jacob ]g GAYE violence practicable under the circumstanc“,
plOyino'.SOme 2 eiersdorf, who was a manufacturer of furniture, e -
s aSc}"le et boo men, had been invited to the meeting and éanlxng
old man doin?g th}:'onenterl thef PR Lt el B inOﬁTemi‘f‘:
; ? ing unlawful, v i : s
S fcernan’s clb: g I, was stricken down at his feet by a
“These . ’
= testimonier;irglffact; were established by an overwhelming ma
5 or the purpose of the i : a
neengelS]s to go farther into detail questions in the case, it is
e chi it : e e
ief political right of the citizen in our government, based
4 ) aset
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¢ any lawful purpose is actually called and held, one who goes there
{th the purpose to disturb and break it up, and commits disorder to
that end, is a trespasser upon the rights of those who, for a time,
wve control of the place of meeting. 1f several unite in the disorder

may be a criminal riot.””

9o much for Judge McAllister.

Now, it is shown that no attention was paid to the Judge’s de-
luion; that peaceable meetings were invaded and broken up, and
‘noffcnsive people were clubbed; that in 1885 there was a strike at the
M¢Cormick Reaper Factory, on account of a reduction of wages, and
some Pinkerton men, while on their way there, were hooted at by
Jume people on the street, when they fired into the crowd and fatally
\wounded several people who had taken no part in any disturbance;

Wt four of the Pinkerton men Were indicted for this murder by the

ing officers apparently took no in-
i be continued a aumber of times,
Wntil the witnesses were sworn out, and in the end the murderers went
‘.. fioe thic there was a strike on the West Division Street

e -+ a 2 leadership
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nected with the disturbance of the Peace or engaged in legitimate business, 2
number of employes of this company were at work upon said street, near
Hoyne avenue, opening a trench for the laying of gas pipe.

The tool box of the employes was at the southeast corner of Hoyne and
Madison street. As the men assembled for labor, shortly before 7 a. m.

not employes of this company, came surging down the street from the west, and
seizing such shovels and other tools of the men as lay
about the box, threw more or less of the loose dirt, which before had been
taken from the trench, upon the track of the railway company. About this
time Captain Bonfield and hijs force appeared upon the scene, and began ap-
parently an indiscriminate arrest of persons, Among others arrested were the
following employes of this company: Edward Kane, Mike W. Kerwin, Dan
Diamond, Jas. Hussey, Dennis Murray, Patrick Brown and Pat Franey. No
one of these persons had any connection with the strike, or were guilty of ob-
structing the cars of the railway company, or of any disturbance upon the
street. Mr. Kerwin had just arrived at the tool box and had not yet taken

1 a street car as prisoner. When

“Take care of
my shovel.” Thereupon Bonfield struck him a violent blow with a club upon

his head, inflicting a serious wound, laying open his scalp, and saying as he did

s0: “I will shovel you,” or words to that effect. Another of the said employes,
Edward Kane, was also arrested by the too] box,

, and for a time
disabled from attending to their business. Both of these men, with blood

streaming from cuts upon their heads, respectively, as also were all of the others
above named, were hustled off to the police station and locked up. The men
were not “booked” as they were locked up, and their friends had great diffi-
culty in finding them, so that bail might be offered and they released. Alfter
they were found communication with them was denied for some time, by Bon-
field’s orders it was said, and for several hours they were kept in confinement in
the lock-up upon Desplaines street, as criminals, when their friends were de-
sirous in bailing them out, Subscquent]y the
before Justice White. Upon the hearing the cj
ney, Bonfield himself being present, and from the testimony it appeared that al]
these men had been arrested under the circumstances aforesaid, and without the
least cause, and that Kane and Kerwin had been cruelly assaulted and beaten
without the least justification therefor, and, of course, they were all dis-
charged.

The officers of this company, who are cognizant of the outrages perpetrated
upon these men, feel that the party by whom the same were committed ought
not to remain in a responsible position upon the police force,

PEOPLE'S GAS LIGHT AND COKE Co.,
By €K & Billings, V. P.

REASONS FOR PARDONING, ETC. 38g

"ROBERT ELLIS, 974 West Madison Street: Chitagr. Wov. 100 155,

i f business
i treet. I was in my place o
< arket at 974 West Madison s Lt
't¥ I\ef’:ot;a‘cumstomers, and stepped to the doox: to get afmeasstix;eoflvr egceived =
W;l lggt thing I knew, as I stood on the step in {ront 0 dmt)}'l pes ’off el 5
l’)l;o:v (l)-f/er the shoulders with a cIub,Ialx:ddwas sbe;zf(dtgnthe pr:rson et
i itch being dug there. ad my £y
walkbu;tzua rgg;:i:ﬁng my feet I saw that it was Bonﬁeldt wl}l:i)t 1:32 z;sgiail; o
. o I told them not to ;
s then came up. i
- thl(-iee ;ﬂzﬁezhe car, and I told them that I couldn’t lealxlle zlgirdpli%?ake
i 2
:al:ini(s)sa:s Igwas all alone there. They askec:hBonﬁe;idaxtl:Okeme d;wn %
i into the car
him ri ” They then shoved me in . e :
e tr ltg h:. ;:1::?5 “'agon yin which I was taken to the Lake street station. I w.
street to »

tlII €1 ht
l ked up there fron] tlllS tll]le, about Clght (o] C]OCk n the morning, £
- 10C

l k mn the evening alld theﬂ tal\en to the Desplallles street station. I was
O cloc »

i
he d tl[ere a Sh() i 1 for my appearance, and g0
rt time and theﬂ gave bal . t ])a(:k to
my place Of bllSineSS about I]ine O’Clock at nlg.ht. S'ubseql}elltly, WhCil: I
d i urt I was dischal ged. It was about elght (6] ClOCk n the =5
appeared in co ) th mornin

July 3, 1885, when I was taken from my place of business. ROBERT ELLIS.

- W. W. WYMAN, 1004 West Madison Street: Chiirses, Hos. T

ing i ven o’clock in the morning of ]ul)f B
iy Standm'gllzt::zii?\‘;o:): bt(})::t esde;;mof the sidewalk. He wf',lsn't ﬂigulx)g
& i i Ell mI;] nfield came up to him, and without a word bemg s::il ny
e 3}& h'tohim over the head with his club ar.rd knocked. lu{m ; ?rv;n;
;ilthe? Bl(:ir:ﬁgim t:vice after he had fallen. I was standing about six fee
e also

7 an that was clubbed—never
them when the assault occurred. I don’t know the m e

saw him before nor since.

JESSE CLOUD, 998 Monroe Street: Chicago, Nov. 20; 1885,

i out seven o’clock, as I was standing on

i v mormngo?fl\/{:zi}i’sgvnlsgtgr‘:e: te)md Western avenue, I saw Bonﬁe}i;itw‘:;t
e COI'HEI‘ osite corner, who was apparently loolfmg :«_11: w1 e
“P"O : mm: (:Zet sir(e)gf Bonfield hit him over ]the hhea]d (\;Vl;]l;mhlzvgruto s

R : near him helpe :
:“OCked o d%wnéori?a? ;12:: rlxlvoasw:tr:nding. His face was covere:rezltg
e nd on his head, made by Bonfield’s c_lub, .and he appe £
e W(”)xufew moments later, as I was standing in t'he sasm:né) sai(i
- e h‘;l{tl y Ilbowc. with another man, Bonfield came up facmghu 1,1ead with
llmOSt“tO"t- 1"11'&;!( H 11.Lhc same time striking the other man over lt e e
t? T "(.lk o l'lnck and turned around to look for tlle other m.ar,emly
idy Nll’l""( :vith the blood running down over h_xs fafce, a[gmonﬁe]d
Il:inlll "hf:;:'l:' fl::(nlllnﬂl\l‘l:yvﬁcrt of the blow or blows he hn.d nuxlzf;lt ::)l::t BOﬂﬁel(i
.[“;:e::- wis no riot or «Iisur(h:rly conduct lhlc‘rcv.'vllt"t)ln‘cv:‘::{ut.a:\‘ing Sl e
made himsell by clubbing innocent people,

ioti ey would surely
strike, If they had been there for the purpose of rioting they
ve resisted Bonfield's brutality. ) AL -
@ (I "\.f';'l':l'l(l'(lh'll the above statement is a true and correct statem

JESSE CLOUD.
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FLAT NICHOLS, 47 Flournoy Street:
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Chicago. No W . officers could give lead and take it also. I will say that affair was_brutal a
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left; that had the police remained away for twenty minutes more there
would have been nobody left there, but as soon as Bonfield had learned
that the mayor had left, he could not resist the temptation to have
some more people clubbed, and went up with a detachment of police
to disperse the meeting; and that on the appearance of the police the
bomb was thrown by some unknown person, and several innocent
and faithful officers, who were simply obeying an uncalled-for order
of their superior, were killed. All of these facts tend to show the im-
probability of the theory of the prosecution that the bomb was thrown
as a result of a conspiracy on the part of the defendants to commit
murder; if the theory of the prosecution were correct, there would
have been many more bombs thrown; and the fact that only one was
thrown shows that it was an act of personal revenge.

It is further shown here, that much of the evidence given at the
trial was a pure fabrication; that some of the prominent police of-
ficials, in their zeal, not only terrorized ignorant men by throwing
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. L al ganize new
broken up, Schaack wanted to send out men to again organi
’

societies right away. You see what this would d%. ; Het;van;ic}l)l;cco
i ili imself prominent beiore i€ :

the thing boiling—keep himsel « ’ ‘
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’
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0 rr;uCh to all this anarchist business as they claimed, anq it e{{felv'
: Schaack thinks he knew all about those anarchists. Why,
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As soon as Schaack began to get some

I was right.
1 knew more at
following them closely. ol
i ed.
otoriety, however, he was spol ‘ .
1 This)is a most important statement, when a chief of pohce,'r‘i\;l;?l
i says th vi
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i} % Fiip g frome ({):}:Fu::l.ill’ll(; was again thrown into prison; that he was ther

in speeches or through the press, then there was no case against them,

to another for several days;
even under the law as laid down by Judge Gary.

; that he was im-

portuned by a police captain an ney t
€y to turn State’s.
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FERES Ry e | S e O o Sy I will simply say i ; ; : W T
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¢ specific act of throwing the bom that kille gan, revenge, and that the prosecution ha, Town as an act of personal he dod
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- advice. ol In short, he was more a misguided en- it fails to show that he acted g from the defendants; consequently thusias
t than a criminal conscious of the horrible nature and effect of M st o on any advice given by them. And if he Sy

chings and of his responsibility therefor.” n or hear any advice coming from the defendants, either

» State’s Attorney appended the foregoing letter, beginning as Th
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follows: “While endorsing and approving the foregoing statement
by Judge Gary, I wish to add thereto the suggestion * * * that
Schwab’s conduct during the trial, and when addressing the court
before sentence, like Fielden’s, was decorous, respectful to the law
and commendable. * * * Tt is further my desire to say that I
believe that Schwab was the pliant, weak tool of a stronger will and
more designing person. Schwab seems to be friendless.”

If what Judge Gary says about Fielden is true; if Fielden has “a
natural love of justice and in his private life was the honest, indus-
trious and peaceable laboring man,” then Fielden’s testimony is en-
titled to credit, and when he says that he did not do the things the
police charge him with doing, and that he never had or used a revolver
fin his life, it is probably true, especially as he is corroborated by a
number of creditable and disinterested witnesses.

Again, if Fielden did the things the police charged him with doing,
if he fired on them as they swear, then he was not a mere misguided
enthusiast, who was to be held only for the consequences of his

’v teachings: and if either Tudee Gary or State’s Attorney Grinnell had
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STATE'S ATTORNEY ON NEEBE'S INNOCENCE.

IV.

At the conclusion of the evidence for the State, the ZI.—Ion. Czi;t:rrl
H. Harrison, then Mayor of Chicago, a.nd Mr. F. S. W msto;,had :
( orporation Counsel for Chicago, were in the court room and bt
' with Mr. Grinnell, the State’s Attorney, in r'egarI (;_I &
vidence against Neebe, in which conversation, accprdlkrllgt t;)lel\/ C;'i.d ::ot
vison and Mr. Winston, the State’s Attorney said tha fopt
think he had a case against Neebe, and tha't he warﬁ1ted to dis . .wh(;
.;but was dissuaded from doing so by his .assoc.late attor?fae,()ther
feared that such a step might influence the jury in favor o

{ ants. . e .
'defehnllcll‘. Harrison, in a letter, amorslg oth<1er t}gr{fs,czzzs. T}Ilev\ ;stoit::y
‘ent in the court room when the State closed 1 sd S t The S
for Neebe moved his discharge on ,the ground that the P

i . on. The State’s Attorney, Mr. Julius . Gr

.e.‘i:?e?fi g\c/)r,-h(;l‘i: 1? ?Ninston, Corporation Counsel {Qr the city, and

kS
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the evidence tended to show guilt, then that evidence must have been
far from being conclusive upon the question as to whether he was
actually guilty; this being so, the verdict should not have been al-
" lowed to stand, because the law requires that a man shall be proven
" to be guilty beyond a reasonable doubt before he can be convicted

the case sufficient to convict Neebe, but that it was in their province
to pass upon it.”

Now, if the statement of Messrs. Harrison and Winston is true,
then Grinnell should not have allowed Neebe to be sent to the peni-
tentiary, and even if we assume that both Mr. Harrison and Mr.
Winston are mistaken, and that Mr. Grinnell simply used the lan-
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all history; that even Jeffries in England, contented himself with
hanging his victims, and did not stoop to berate them after death.
These charges are of a personal character, and while they seem
to be sustained by the record of the trial and the papers before me,
and tend to show the trial was not fair, I do not care to discuss this
feature of the case any farther, because it is not necessary. I am
convinced that it is clearly my duty to act in this case for the reasons

already given, and I, therefore, grant an absolute pardon to Samuel
Fielden, Oscar Neebe and Michael Schwab, this 26th day of June,

1893.
JOHN P. ALTGELD,

Governor of Illinois.

SPEECH AT BANQUET TO DIRECTOR GENERAL DAVIS.

(Tendered by Foreign Commissioners, at the Auditorium, November 11, 1893.)

But few men are so fortunate as to have their names associated
with great affairs. But few men are ever blessed with an opportunity
to render their country or their age a service that will hand their
names down to posterity. . The temple of fame is so carefully guarded
by the genii that but few mortals ever enter it.

Millions of men with high ambition, with patriotic fervor and
noble sacrifice, have had to content themselves with the approval
of their own conscience and the good opinions of their neighbors.
They have died in the arms of their families and passed to the shad-
ows beyond without having left even a foot-print on the path they
trod.

The man in whose honor we have met to-night has been more
highly favored. The fates seem to smile on him; again and again
have they beckoned him onward and upward. He served his coun-
try as a soldier; he served it in the national halls of legislation; he
served it in a position of great financial responsibility, and then the
fates beckoned him still higher, and he served his country as Director
General of the great Columbian Exposition. Most fortunate man, to
have his name prominently associated with the building, the making
and the managing of that wonderful World’s Fair! Most fortunate
are all of the great men whose genius and creative force made ani
managed that marvel of the age which has placed a wreath of im
mortality on the brow of this century, and which will emblazon the
names of its creators in the temple of achievement, where they will
be honored by the generations to come as these read of, talk of, anl
wonder over the glories of the famous White City.




